### IN THE MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

### No. 2010-KA-00504-COA

KENDRICK LAMAR WILLIAMS

**APPELLANT** 

Vs.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Pike County, Mississippi

Cynthia A. Stewart MSB

2088 Main Street, Suite A Madison, MS 39110 Telephone: (601) 856-0515

Telephone: (601) 856-0515 Facsimile: (601) 856-0514

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

Statement of Issues vi
Statement Regarding Oral Argument
Statement of the Case
Summary of the Argument4
Law and Argument
Conclusion
Certificate of Service

### TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Arthur v. State, 575 So.2d 1165 (Ala.Crim.App. 1990)
Bryant v. State, 601 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1992)
Buckley v. State, 223 So.2d 524 (Miss.1969)
Caraway v. Beto, 421 F.2d 636 (5 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1979)
Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967) 2
Cole v. State, 217 Miss. 779, 785, 65 So.2d 262 (1953)
Davis v. State, 743 So.2d 326 (Miss. 1999)
Dowell, Inc. v. Jowers, 166 F.2d 214 (5 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1948) cert. denied 334 U.S. 832, 68 S.Ct. 1346, 92 L.Ed. 1759
Eubanks v. State, 419 So.2d 1330 (Miss.1982)
Flowers v. State, 773 So.2d 309 (Miss. 2000)
Floyd v. State, 166 Miss. 15, 148 So. 226 (1933)
Fulgham v. State, 386 So.2d 1099 (Miss. 1990)
Harper v. State, 478 So.2d 1017 (Miss. 1985)
Harrison v. State, 534 So.2d 175 (Miss. 1988)
Hickson v. State, 707 So.2d 536 (Miss.1997)6
Holland v. State, 656 So.2d 1192 (Miss. 1995)
Hudson v. Taleff, 546 So.2d 359 (Miss. 1989)7
Ivy v. State, 301 So.2d 292 (Miss.1974)
Jasper v. State, 759 So.2d 1136 (Miss.1999)
King v. State, 994 So.2d 890 (Miss.App. 2008)
Kolberg v. State, 829 So.2d 29, 45 (Miss. 2002)

Mhoon v. State, 464 So.2d 77 (Miss.1985)6
Mickell v. State, 735 So.2d 1031 (Miss. 1999)
Moffett v. State, 456 So.2d 714 (Miss. 1984)
Montgomery v. State, 828 So.2d 816 (Miss.App. 2002)
Moore v. State, 755 So.2d 1276 (Miss. App. 2000)
Moore v. State, 787 So.2d 1282 (Miss. 2001)
People v. Brunner, 797 P.2d 788 (Colo.App.1990)9
Randall v. State, 806 So.2d 185 (Miss. 2001)
Scott v. Ball, 595 So.2d 848 (Miss. 1992)
Slade v. United States, 267 F.2d 834 (5 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1959)
State v. Al Bayyinah, 356 N.C. 150 (2002)
State v. Padgett, 410 N.W.2d 143 (N.D.1987)
State v. Pennington, 575 A.2d 816 (N.J. 1990)
State v. Thornhill, 251 Miss. 718, 171 So.2d 308 (1965)
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 675 (1984)
United States v. Cervantes-Pacheco, 826 F.2d 310 (5th Cir. 1987)
United States v. Davis, 766 F.2d 1452 (10th Cir.), cert. denied 474 U.S. 908, 106 S.Ct. 239, 88 L.Ed.2d 240 (1985)
United States v. Demelio, 2009 WL 3698110 (W.D.Pa.)
United States v. Medley, 913 F.2d 1248 (7th Cir.1990)
United States v. Partin, 493 F.2d 750 (1974)
United States v. Wiesle, 542 F.2d 61 (8th Cir.1976)9
United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 105 S.Ct. 1038, 84 L.Ed.2d 1 (1985) 18

Vela v. Estelle, 708 F.2d 954 (5 <sup>th</sup> Cir. 1983)
Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 87 S.Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 (1967)16
Wheeler v. State, 560 So.2d 171 (Miss. 1990)
Wilkins v. State, 603 So.2d 309 (Miss. 1992)
Williams v. State, 32 So.3d 486 (Miss. 2010)
Williamson v. State, 512 So.2d 868 (Miss. 1987)7

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The trial court erred in refusing defendant's challenge for cause of juror Spears.
- 2. The prosecution erred in eliciting testimony that Williams' codefendants pleaded guilty.
- 3. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the testimony that Williams' codefendants had all pleaded guilty.
- 4. The prosecution erred in eliciting testimony that could have been considered as witness intimidation evidence.
- 5. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the 404(b) evidence.
- 6. The trial court erred in allowing the prosecution to place Lewis's prior statement into evidence.
- 7. Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the admission of Lewis's prior statement and in failing to request a limiting instruction. The trial court also erred in failing to sua sponte give a limiting instruction.
- 8. The prosecution committed misconduct in arguing to the jury that by convicting the defendant, they would be doing their duty as citizens of Pike County.
- 9. The prosecution committed misconduct in arguing to the jury that by convicting the defendant, they would be doing their duty as citizens of Pike County.
- 10. Defense counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the prosecutor's misconduct.
- 11. The trial court erred in refusing the defense's instruction on the credibility of accessories.
- 12. The errors taken together are cause for a new trial.

### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT

Kendrick Lamar Williams does not request oral argument in this case.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kendrick Williams was indicted by a Pike County grand jury in June, 2009, for an armed robbery and aggravated assault alleged to have occurred on April 11, 2009.

Indicted with Williams were Deirdre Patrick Bonds, Aris Joseph and Jodenzo Thompson for accessory to armed robbery. Thompson was also charged with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. CP. 3; RE. 5.

Eddie Lewis runs the Club Tatiyana. The night of April 10, 2009, was a slow night. Kendrick Williams was there along with some others participating in a game of dice. T. 170. Apparently Williams was losing money and became angry. T. 171. Lewis came over and tried to call him down. "And I told him", Lewis testified, "I said, look, and I called him the N word, if you came in here with your diaper money, you shouldn't have come here." T. 171. Around 1:00 a.m. or 1:30, Jodenzo Thompson came up to Lewis and passed him a gun. T. 172. Thompson told him "I want to give you this gun because I don't want nobody to think nothing funny going on or, you know, nobody going to get, you know, robbed or anything." T. 172.

At some point, Lewis asked everyone to leave because it seemed like another incident was happening. T. 173. Thompson came up to retrieve his gun. T. 172. Everyone left leaving Lewis alone in the club; it took Lewis about ten or fifteen minutes to close the club. T. 174. Meanwhile, Lewis's cousin was in his car out front waiting for Lewis. T. 174. As Lewis was locking the door, he heard someone say "you know what

time it is." T. 175. Lewis turned around and saw a person he later identified as Kendrick Williams with a bandana over his mouth. T. 175. Lewis didn't know Williams and had only spoken to him twice before but testified that he recognized him from his eyes, his voice, height and hair. T. 212. The robber repeated "you know what time it is" two or three times. T. 176. Then he said "give it up." T. 178. As the robber came toward him, Lewis could see a gun in his hand. T. 178. Lewis had around \$1000.00 in his pocket. As he started to bring the money out of his pocket, Lewis heard a gun shot. T. 179. Lewis placed the money back into his pocket and told the robber "Nigga, you going to have to kill me now." T. 179. The robber pointed the gun at Lewis's head and pulled the trigger again but this time the gun jammed. T. 182. Lewis took the opportunity to run across the street. T. 83. Lewis reached a porch and the porch light turned on. At that point, the robber ran. T. 184. Lewis went back the club's parking lot where his girlfriend, who had been waiting in her car to drive Lewis home, was asleep. T. 185. Lewis woke her up and told her what happened but she didn't believe him. He then called his father. T. 185. After that he went home. It was only then that he called the police. T. 186, 213.

On cross examination, Lewis admitted that he did not know that it was Williams who was robbing him at the time of the robbery. T. 208. A police officer came to Lewis's house after the robbery and Lewis called someone who had been at the bar that night and described a tattoo on one of the patron's arm and was told that that person was called Denzo. T. 208.

Both Jodenzo Thompson and Aris Joseph pleaded guilty and testified against Williams at trial. T. 120; 152.

Thompson testified they were playing dice at Lewis's club. Williams was losing money. When the club closed around 2:00 a.m., there were about six people left in the club. T. 126. Thompson got into Deidre Bonds' car along with Deidre, Aris Joseph and Kendrick Williams. T. 126. Williams was complaining about how he was going to have to go home and explain to his "old lady" about losing the money. T. 126. As they were driving out of the parking lot, Williams said to stop and open the trunk. T. 127. Williams got out of the car, walked around the car, "and shot down there toward the club." T. 128. Thompson then saw Eddie Lewis run across the street. T. 129. Williams ran back to the car and Deidre drove off. Williams explained that Lewis was about to give him the money when he saw that the gun was jammed and started running. T. 130. Thompson testified that he did not see any of this happen. T. 131. Later, when both Thompson and Williams were in jail, Williams told him that "as long as we keep our mouth shut, you know what I'm saying, we ain't got nothing to worry about, stuff like that." T. 135.

The prosecution asked whether Thompson had pleaded guilty to accessory after the fact as well as being a felon in possession of a firearm and Thompson answered that he had. T. 135-136. On cross-examination, Thompson testified that he was sentenced to six months in the Regimented Inmate Discipline (RID) program. T. 146.

Aris Joseph testified that he was at the club that night and Jodena Thomspn and Kendrick Williams were gambling. T. 154. As they were leaving the club, Williams was talking about having lost money. T. 155. As they pulled out of the parking lot, Williams said to Deidre to stop the car and open the trunk. T. 156. He went into the trunk and left going toward the club. T. 156-157. Joseph testified that he heard a shot and then

Williams came back to the car carrying a gun. T. 157-158. Joseph then saw Eddie Lewis run across the road. T. 158.

The prosecutor asked Joseph whether he had pleaded guilty to accessory after the fact. T. 161. Joseph replied that he had. T. 161. On cross-examination, Joseph testified that he, too, was sentenced to six months in the RID program. T. 164.

The defense called Officer Gregory Keith Patterson. He testified that in the incident report, the suspect was identified as Jodenzo Thompson. T. 231.

The trial began on February 23, 2009. On February 24, 2009, the jury found Williams guilty of aggravated assault and armed robbery. CP. 36; RE. 9. For the latter, the jury imposed a life sentence. CP. 36; RE. 9. Thereafter, the court imposed a life sentence for the armed robbery and twenty years for the aggravated assault with the sentences to run concurrently. CP. 39; RE. 12.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Numerous errors were committed in this case depriving Kendrick Williams of his right to due process and a fair trial. First of all, the trial court denied Williams' challenge for cause of a potential juror who stated that the mere fact that Williams was on trial led her to believe there must be some evidence against him. The trial court denied the challenge for cause on the mistaken basis that it was defense counsel's duty to rehabilitate the juror.

The prosecution committed error when it announced during opening argument that all of Williams' codefendants pleaded guilty. When two of the codefendants testified against Williams, the prosecution elicited testimony that they had both pleaded guilty to

the charges in the indictment in which they were named with Williams. Defense counsel was ineffective in failing to object to this argument and testimony.

During Lewis's testimony, the prosecution elicited testimony about an encounter between Lewis and Williams after Williams bonded out of jail. This encounter could have been interpreted as an attempt to intimidate Lewis. As such, it was inadmissible 404(b) evidence. Again, defense counsel was ineffective in failing to object to said evidence.

Lewis had given a statement to the police after the alleged robbery. Defense counsel questioned Lewis about some particulars of the statement. On redirect, the prosecution introduced the statement into evidence and, in closing, urged the jury to use the statement as substantive evidence of Williams' guilt. Not only did defense counsel fail to object to the admission and use of Lewis's prior statement, defense counsel agreed to admit the statement. Both trial counsel and the court erred in failing to request and/or give the jury an instruction limiting their use of Lewis's prior statement.

The prosecution committed misconduct in arguing that the jurors would be doing their duty as citizens of Pike County in finding Williams guilty. Defense counsel failed to object to this improper argument.

And while defense counsel asked for the standard instruction cautioning jurors about the use of codefendants' statements, the trial court refused to give the instruction.

Finally, the cumulative effect of these errors denied Williams due process and a fair trial.

#### LAW AND ARGUMENT

1. The trial court erred in refusing defendant's challenge for cause of juror Spears.

During voir dire, defense counsel asked "does anyone here believe that a person, just because he is charged with a crime, is probably guilty of that crime?" T. 63. A Ms. Spears, juror no. 44, indicated that she would. "Well," Ms. Spears stated, "I would say, yes, more on the probable side, because they have to have enough evidence to bring it to a case. But I would still be fair." T. 63.

At the end of voir dire, defense counsel asked that Ms. Spears be removed for cause. T. 76. The trial court denied the challenge on the basis that defense counsel never followed up to explain the law to her and find out whether she would still say that she would start out believing that there was evidence that Williams was guilty. "I just don't think you went back to her with it", the court stated. T. 76. "I think some more questions should have been asked. And, perhaps, shame on me for not asking them." T. 76.

"One of the fundamental hallmarks of our legal system is an accused's right to a fair trial before an impartial jury." *Hickson v. State*, 707 So.2d 536, 541 (Miss.1997). The trial court is required to "guard against even the appearance of unfairness" when impaneling a jury. *Mhoon v. State*, 464 So.2d 77, 81 (Miss.1985).

A juror who starts out believing that there must be some evidence of guilt prior to having heard any evidence is not the impartial juror contemplated by the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution or Art. 3, §§ 14 and 26 of the Mississippi Constitution. Where a juror, because of his relationship to one of the parties, his occupation, his past experience or for other reasons, would normally lean in

favor of the prosecution, then his ability to be fair and impartial is impaired, and he should be excused even though he has stated that the relationship will not affect his verdict. *Scott v. Ball*, 595 So.2d 848, 850 (Miss. 1992) (juror should have been excused for cause where physician-party had treated his family but was not family doctor); *Montgomery v. State*, 828 So.2d 816, 821 (Miss.App. 2002) (prospective juror was properly excused for cause after he expressed his opinion that defendant was guilty based on his dirty clothing).

This is particularly true, where, as here, additional jurors could have been readily summoned without great difficulty. *Scott*, 595 So.2d at 850.

Moreover, once a juror has expressed that she has preconceived notions of a defendant's guilt, it is not defense counsel's duty to rehabilitate the prospective juror. "[I]t is the duty of the court to see that a competent, fair, and impartial jury is impanelled [citation omitted]." *Hudson v. Taleff*, 546 So.2d 359, 363 (Miss. 1989).

In the context of qualifying jurors in a death penalty case, the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated "that if there is any question concerning whether a prospective juror may be properly excluded for cause based on his views on capital punishment, the trial judge should conduct his own independent examination of the jurors to determine whether they can follow the testimony, the instructions, and their juror's oath and return a verdict of guilt even though such a verdict could result in the imposition of the death penalty." *Williamson v. State*, 512 So.2d 868, 881 (Miss. 1987) (emphasis added).

[I]t is not defense counsel's obligation to rehabilitate a juror who has responded to questions in a manner that would sustain a challenge for cause. The appropriate procedure, when the record preliminarily establishes that a juror's views could prevent or substantially impair his or her duties, is for either the prosecutor or the judge to make

sure the prospective juror can be an impartial member of the jury.

Bryant v. State, 601 So.2d 529, 531 -532 (Fla. 1992).

In this case, it was the trial court's duty to determine whether the juror could set aside any preconceived notion of the defendant's guilt based on the mere fact that he was on trial. When the trial court failed in this duty, it had no choice but to grant Defendant's challenge for cause.

# 2. The prosecution erred in eliciting testimony that Williams' codefendants pleaded guilty.

Sheriff's Deputy Jeff Honea testified that he was one of the people investigating the armed robbery at Club Tatiyana. T. 107. Eddie Lewis told him who he thought the shooter was. T. 222. One of the people Lewis identified was Jodenzo Thompson. Honea tracked Thompson and his girlfriend down and brought them in for questioning. T. 111. Honea testified that he also interviewed Aris Joseph, Deirdre Patrick Bonds, Jodenzo Thompson and the defendant. T. 112. Williams admitted being at the scene. T. 112. The others admitted being with Williams, knowing about the armed robbery and driving him away from the scene. All but Williams, Honea testified, admitted their guilt and were sentenced. T. 113. Indeed, Thompson and Joseph both testified against Williams and the prosecution elicited from both of them the fact that they had pleaded guilty to crimes associated with the armed robbery with which Williams was charged.

Honea's testimony and elicitation of evidence that Williams' codefendants all pleaded guilty was error. *Ivy v. State*, 301 So.2d 292 (Miss.1974); *Buckley v. State*, 223 So.2d 524 (Miss.1969); *State v. Thornhill*, 251 Miss. 718, 171 So.2d 308 (1965).

Appellate courts have found the admission of a co-conspirator's plea of guilty, while incompetent as substantive evidence of the defendant's guilt, may be admissible for other purposes. *United States v. Medley*, 913 F.2d 1248, 1257-58 (7th Cir.1990); *United States v. Davis*, 766 F.2d 1452, 1456 (10th Cir.), *cert. denied* 474 U.S. 908, 106 S.Ct. 239, 88 L.Ed.2d 240 (1985); *United States v. Wiesle*, 542 F.2d 61, 62-63 (8th Cir.1976); *State v. Padgett*, 410 N.W.2d 143, 146 (N.D.1987); *People v. Brunner*, 797 P.2d 788, 789 (Colo.Ct.App.1990). In this case, however, there was no "other purpose" for which the evidence of Williams' codefendants' guilty pleas was introduced.

In Fulgham v. State, 386 So.2d 1099 (Miss. 1980), the Mississippi Supreme Court reversed where the judge accepted the codefendant's plea of guilty in front of the jury panel that was about to start hearing the defendant's case. Fulgham, 386 So.2d at 1100. "[T]he fact that both men were called for trial in the same case with one changing his plea and being sentenced in the presence of the jury panel that was to try both at the same time would, in all probability, cause to consider this situation as laymen." Fulgham, 386 So.2d at 1101.

In this case, there was no legitimate reason to inform the jury that all of Williams' codefendants pleaded guilty. This evidence did nothing but prejudice the jury. As such, Williams' convictions and sentences should be reversed and remanded for a new trial.

# 3. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the testimony that Williams' codefendants had all pleaded guilty.

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