# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### KENDRICK LAMAR WILLIAMS a/k/a SCOOTER

VS.

.

**APPELLANT** 

NO. 2010-KA-0504-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

# **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

### JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NOTION

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

Spears did not serve on the jury that convicted Williams.

The jurors finally selected to try this case are identified in the following colloquy:

THE COURT: Ladies and gentlemen in the jury box, if you would step to the side, please.

All right. Would the following persons please come forward and take their seats in the jury box:

Joseph Roberson, Alfred Patterson, Willie Turner, Ricky Simpson, Elijah Wall, Michael Ehrlicher, Paul Hamilton, Latasha Sibley, Alan Matthews, Jerry Lang, Terry Hendrickson, Edith Parkman, Erin Myers, and Linda Skinner.

### (JURY SEATED)

THE COURT: The remainder of the jury members are free to go and do we have - - do they need to call back?

MR. BYRD: I don't think so, Your Honor. Do you want to have them check back Thursday? (R. 93)

Assuming, arguendo, Judge Strong did not reverse his ruling, any error in denying a challenge

for cause based upon Ms Spears's preconceived notions concerning Williams's guilt could not have

contributed one whit to Williams's conviction and was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. See

In addition to all this, Williams only used four (4) of his peremptory challenges. (R. 90-91)

The Supreme Court "... ha[s] consistently held that the trial court may not be put in error for refusal

to excuse jurors challenged for cause when the complaining party chooses not to exhaust his

peremptory challenges." Scott v. Ball, 595 So.2d 848, 851 (Miss. 1992), and the cases cited therein.

### **POINTS 2, 4, 6, AND 8.**

THERE WAS NO OBJECTION DURING TRIAL, CONTEMPORANEOUS OR OTHERWISE, TO THE TESTIMONY AND ARGUMENT COMPLAINED ABOUT. RATHER, OBJECTION IS MADE FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

ACCORDINGLY, WILLIAMS IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED FROM RAISING THESE MATTERS AT THIS BELATED HOUR. STATED DIFFERENTLY, HE HAS WAIVED AND/OR FORFEITED HIS RIGHT TO HAVE THESE ISSUES CONSIDERED ON APPEAL.

# THE PLAIN ERROR RULE IS INAPPLICABLE HERE BECAUSE ANY ERROR WAS NOT "PLAIN." IN FACT THERE WAS NO ERROR AT ALL.

Williams argues for the first time (1) the prosecution erred in eliciting testimony that Williams's testifying co-defendants pleaded guilty to being accessories after the fact, (2) defense counsel erred in failing to object to other crime evidence, (3) defense counsel erred in allowing the prosecution to place into evidence the victim's prior statement, and the prosecutor erred in arguing to the jury that by convicting the defendant they would be doing their duty as citizens. (Brief of Appellant at vi., 8, 10, 12, 17)

He seeks reversal of his two convictions and sentences and a remand for a new trial. (Brief of Appellant at 9, 14, 22)

We decline to address the merits of any of these complaints because there was no objection, contemporaneous or otherwise, to any of the evidence, testimony, or argument complained about

contemporaneous or otherwise, to any of the evidence, testimony, or argument complained about now. Williams is barred from raising them for the first time on appeal. Besides, Williams was hopelessly guilty.

## Procedural Bar. The Contemporaneous Objection Rule.

The problem with all of these arguments, as Williams is well aware, is that none of this evidence, testimony or oratory generated an objection, contemporaneous or otherwise; rather, these matters and occurrences are complained about for the first time on appeal.

We respectfully point out the testimony and argument assailed "here and now" was not so obviously egregious and prejudicial "then and there." There was no contemporaneous objection at trial to any testimony or argument complained about on appeal.

The prosecutor's "job and duty" remarks assailed for the first time here were made in response to defense counsel's closing statements inviting the jurors to go home and talk to friends and family about why they found the defendant not guilty. (R. 255) This argument did not warrant an objection. The trial judge had already instructed the jury that "[a]rguments, statements and remarks of counsel are intended to help you understand the evidence and apply the law, but are not evidence." (R. 239; C.P. at 19)

Williams's testifying co-defendants were never found guilty by a jury of the same crimes for which Williams was being tried; rather, at the time of trial they had entered guilty pleas to being accessories after the fact. "The supreme court has held that if the defense wishes to exclude such testimony from consideration by the jury, he is duty bound to object." **Palm v. State**, 724 So.2d 424, 426 (Ct.App.Miss. 1998), citing **Johnson v. State**, 477 So.2d 196, 214 (Miss. 1985) [Reversal not required by prosecutor's improper elicitation of testimony concerning the guilty plea of accomplice prior to any attack on accomplice's credibility since accomplice was subject to cross examination

and counsel for the defense failed to object to accomplices's testimony.]

A contemporaneous objection to allegedly prejudicial remarks by the district attorney is required else the objection is waived. **Handley v. State**, 574 So.2d 671 (Miss. 1990); **Hill v. State**, 432 So.2d 427 (Miss. 1983); **Alford v. State**, 760 So.2d 48 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000); **Swindle v. State**, 755 So.2d 1158 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999) [Defendant waived any challenge to all but one of the prosecutor's remarks made during closing argument where he failed to make a contemporaneous objection to all but one comment.]

In Hill v. State, supra, 432 So.2d 427, 439 (Miss. 1983), this Court opined:

In this case, however, there was no objection to this argument. We have consistently held that contemporaneous objection must be made to improper argument by the state, and unless such objection is made, any claimed error for such improper argument will not be considered on appeal. [numerous citations omitted]

The absence of a contemporaneous objection is absolutely fatal to Williams's complaint. **Turner v. State, 818** So.2d 1181 (Miss. 2002) [By failing to object to the state's closing argument during trial, defendant was precluded from raising any issues concerning the argument for the first time on appeal.]; **Hampton v. State, 815** So.2d 429 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002) [A contemporaneous objection must be made in order for the Court of Appeals to consider claims of improper or erroneous comments by a prosecuting attorney made during closing argument.]; **Swindle v. State,** *supra*.

These observations, standing alone, are fatal to Williams's complaints raised here for the first time on appeal. In short, any error was waived when Williams failed to object during trial or move to suppress prior to trial. Accordingly, Williams has "forfeited" his right to raise these claims on appeal. *See* **United States v. Dodson, 288** F.3d 153 (5<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2002), reh denied, cert denied 123 S.Ct.

32 [Forfeiture is the failure to make the timely assertion of a right, generally by failure to object to an error in the proceedings.]

It is elementary that a contemporaneous objection is required in order to preserve an error for appellate review. **Caston v. State,** 823 So.2d 473 (Miss. 2002), reh denied; **Logan v. State,** 773 So.2d 338 (Miss. 2000); **Florence v. State,** 755 So.2d 1065 (Miss. 2000); **Jackson v. State,** 766 So.2d 795 (Ct.App.Miss. 2000); **Goree v. State,** 750 So.2d 1260 (Ct.App.Miss. 1999).

Otherwise the error, if any at all, is waived for appeal purposes. **Caston v. State**, *supra*, 823 So.2d 473 (Miss. 2002), reh denied.

Stated differently, "[t]he failure to object at trial acts as a procedural bar in an appeal." White v. State, 964 So.2d 1181, 1185 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007), citing Jackson v. State, 832 So.2d at 579, 581(¶3) (Ct.App. Miss. 2002), citing Carr v. State, 655 So.2d 824, 853 (Miss. 1995).

A defendant is **not** entitled to raise new issues on appeal that he has not first presented to the trial court for consideration. **Hodgin v. State,** 964 So.2d 492 (Miss. 2007). This rule is not diminished in a capital case. **Flowers v. State,** 947 So.2d 910 (Miss. 2007). Moreover, it also applies to constitutional questions. **Williams v. State,** 971 So.2d 581 (Miss. 2007) ["As a general rule, constitutional questions not asserted at the trial level are deemed waived."] *See also* **Ross v. State,** 954 So.2d 968, 987-88, 1015 (Miss. 2006); **Rogers v. State,** 928 So.2d 831, 834 (Miss. 2006).

In **Gonzales v. State**, 963 So.2d 1138, 1144 (Miss. 2007), the Supreme Court reaffirmed the rule with the following rhetoric:

Where an argument has never been raised before the trial court, we repeatedly have held that 'a trial judge will not be found in error on a matter not presented to the trial court for a decision.' *Purvis v. Barnes*, 791 So.2d 199, 203 (Miss. 2001).

The contemporaneous objection rule has been applied to speedy trial violations, discovery

trial *in absentia*, and the like. *See* Miller v. State, 956 So.2d 221 (Miss. 2007) [speedy trial]; Jackson v. State, 962 So.2d 649 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007), reh den, cert den [discovery]; Flowers v. State, 947 So.2d 910 (Miss. 2007) and Roles v. State, 952 So.2d 1043 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007) [*Batson*]; Black v. State, 949 So.2d 105 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007) [in-court identifications]; Gonzales v. State, *supra*, 963 So.2d 1138 (Miss. 2007)[wrongfully obtained evidence]; Mallard v. State, 798 So.2d 539 (Miss. 2001) [trial *in absentia*].

The contemporaneous objection rule is in place in order to enable the trial judge to correct error with proper instructions to the jury whenever possible. **Slaughter v. State,** 815 So.2d 1122 (Miss. 2002), reh denied.

A trial court cannot be put in error unless it had an opportunity to first pass on the question.

Palm v. State, 748 So.2d 135 (Miss. 1999); Fulgham v. State, 770 So.2d 1021 (Ct.App.Miss.

2000). See also Mallard v. State, supra, 798 So.2d 539, 542 (Miss. 2001), where this Court held

that Mallard's complaint that she was tried in her absence was waived, for the purposes of appeal,

since she failed to object to her trial in absentia.

Miss.Code Ann. § 99-35-143 is precisely in point. It reads, in its pertinent parts, that

[a] judgment in a criminal case shall not be reversed because the transcript of the record does not show a proper organization of the court below or of the grand jury, or where the court was held, or that the prisoner was present in court during the trial or any part of it, or that the court asked him if he had anything to say why judgment should not be pronounced against him upon the verdict, or because of any error or omission in the case in the court below, except where the errors or omission are jurisdictional in their character, unless the record show that the errors complained of were made ground of special exception in that court. [emphasis added]

The underlying bases for the existence of a contemporaneous objection rule are contained

in Oates v. State, 421 So.2d 1025, 1030 (Miss. 1982), where we find the following:

in Oates v. State, 421 So.2d 1025, 1030 (Miss. 1982), where we find the following:

There are three basic considerations which underlie the rule requiring specific objections. It avoids costly new trials. Boring v. State, 253 So.2d 251 (Miss. 1971). It allows the offering party an opportunity to obviate the objection. Heard v. State, 59 Miss. 545 (Miss. 1882). Lastly, a trial court is not put in error unless it had an opportunity to pass on the question. Boutwell v. State, 165 Miss. 16, 143 So. 479 (1932). These rules apply with equal force in the instant case; accordingly, we hold that appellant did not properly preserve the question for appellate review.

In Leverett v. State, 197 So.2d 889, 890 (Miss. 1967), this Court, quoting from Collins v.

State, 173 Miss. 179, 180, 159 So. 865 (1935), penned the following language:

The Supreme Court is a court of appeals, it has no original jurisdiction; it can only try questions that have been tried and passed upon by the court from which the appeal is taken. Whatever remedy appellant has is in the trial court, not in this court. This court can only pass on the question after the trial court has done so.

In Sumner v. State, 316 So.2d 926, 927 (Miss. 1975), we find the following language

concerning the time for making an objection:

The rule governing the time of objection to evidence is that it must be made as soon as it appears that the evidence is objectionable, or as soon as it could reasonably have been known to the objecting party, unless some special reason makes a postponement desirable for him which is not unfair to the proponent of the evidence. *Williams v. State*, 171 Miss. 324, 157 So. 717 (1934) and cases cited therein. See also cases in Mississippi Digest under Criminal Law at 693.

We reiterate. "A trial judge will not be found in error on a matter not presented to him for

decision." Ballenger v. State, 667 So.2d 1242, 1256 (Miss. 1995) citing numerous cases. See also

McLendon v. State, 945 So.2d 372 (Miss. 2006), reh den, cert den; Howard v. State, 945 So.2d

326 (Miss. 2006), reh den, cert den. "[The Supreme Court] cannot find that a trial judge committed

reversible error on a matter not brought before him to consider." Montgomery v. State, 891 So.2d

179, 187 (Miss. 2004) reh den.

No egregious violation of a fundamental or substantial right is involved here, and the procedural bar/waiver/forfeiture rule is applicable to Kendrick Lamar Williams.

Plain Error .

Williams might suggest that because these matters were not objected to the Appellant must proceed under the doctrine of plain error.

Miss.R.Evid. 103 (d) reads as follows: "Nothing in this rule precludes taking notice of plain errors affecting substantial rights although they were not brought to the attention of the court."

We continue to adhere to our view that "plain error" is something for a reviewing court to notice and not a crutch for an appellant to argue and that application of the plain error doctrine eviscerates the heart of the contemporaneous objection rule.

In any event, the plain error doctrine is inapplicable here because in order to find "plain"

error there must be "error."

"The plain error doctrine requires that there be an error and the error must have resulted in

a manifest miscarriage of justice." Williams v. State, 794 So.2d 181, 187 (Miss. 2001).

In McGee v. State, 953 So.2d 211, 215 (Miss. 2007), we find the following language

dispositive of any anticipated "plain error" argument:

\* \* \* However, if there is a finding of plain error, a reviewing court may consider the issue regardless of the procedural bar. A review under the plain error doctrine is necessary when a party's fundamental rights are affected, and the error results in a manifest miscarriage of justice. *Williams v. State*, 794 So.2d 181, 187-88 (Miss. 2001). To determine if plain error has occurred, we must determine "if the trial court has deviated from a legal rule, whether that error is plain, clear or obvious, and whether the error has prejudiced the outcome of the trial." *Cox v. State*, 793 So.2d 591, 597 (Miss. 2001) (relying on *Grubb v. State*, 584 So.2d 786, 789 (Miss. 1991);,*Porter v. State*, 749 So.2d 250, 260- 61 (Miss.Ct.App. 1999). The Supreme Court applies the "plain error" rule "... only when it affects a defendant's substantial/fundamental rights." Williams v. State, *supra*, 794 So.2d at 187.

None of this criteria is found to exist in the case at bar,

*First*, Judge Strong did not deviate from a legal rule. In the absence of a motion to suppress or contemporaneous objection, the trial judge never had the opportunity to rule on the matters identified here. Thus, there is no error, plain or otherwise, to review.

Second, even if there is the spectre of error, it is neither "plain" nor "clear" nor "obvious." Accordingly, admission of the testimony and evidence targeted here and any impropriety during the prosecutor's closing argument did not prejudice the outcome of the trial where, as here, evidence of Williams's guilt was overwhelming. In other words, any error did not result in a "manifest miscarriage of justice."

### Harmless Error.

Assuming, arguendo, there is "plain error," it was clearly harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the evidence preponderates very heavily in favor the guilty verdict and any error could not have contributed one whit to the defendant's conviction. *See* **Chapman v. California**, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct.824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705 (1967), reh den 17 L.Ed.2d 705.

### POINTS 3, 5, 7, AND 9.

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